# Constitution of the British Cave Research Association

Last amended: 14 November 2020. (Previously amended: 27 September 2008).

Click/Tap a link or scroll on down.

- <u>A. Name</u> <u>B. Administration</u> <u>C. Objects</u> <u>D. Powers</u> <u>E. Membership</u> <u>F. Members' Responsibilities</u>
- <u>G. Honorary Officers and the Council</u> <u>H. Termination of Council Members J. Personal Interests of Council Members J. Meetings and Proceedings of the Council K. Receipts and Expenditure L. Property and Trustees</u>
- M. Accounts N. Annual Report and Return O. Annual General Meeting P. Special General Meetings
- Q. Procedure at General Meetings R. Procedure for Ballots S. Notices and Ballot Forms T. The Constitution
- <u>U. Dissolution</u> <u>Previous Versions</u> <u>Document Notes</u>

### A. Name

1. The name of the Association is the British Cave Research Association ("the Association").

#### **B.** Administration

1. Subject to the matters set out below the Association and its property shall be administered and managed in accordance with this Constitution by the members of the Council, constituted by Clause G of this Constitution ("the Council").

### C. Objects

- 1. The Association's objects ("the objects") are to promote the study of caves and associated phenomena wherever they may be situated, for the benefit of the public. The objects of the association shall be attained by:
  - a. supporting appropriate research and the publication of the useful results of any full research for the benefit of the public;
  - b. collecting and publishing information of speleological interest;
  - c. organising conferences and meetings of an educational or scientific nature;
  - d. maintaining a library of speleological interest;
  - e. any other legally charitable means that are considered to be appropriate.

#### D. Powers

- 1. In the furtherance of the objects but not otherwise the Council may exercise the following powers:
  - a. power to raise funds and to invite and receive contributions or subscriptions provided that in raising funds the Council shall not undertake any substantial trading activities;
  - b. power to buy, take on lease or take in exchange any property necessary for the achievement of the objects and to maintain and equip such property for use;
  - c. power subject to any consents required by law to sell, lease or dispose of all or part of the property of the Association;
  - d. power to co-operate with other charities, voluntary bodies, museums, societies, statutory bodies, institutions and individuals operating in furtherance of the objects or of similar purposes and to exchange information and advice with them;
  - e. power to establish or support any charitable trusts, associations or institutions formed for all or any of the objects;
  - f. power to employ such staff (who shall not be members of the Council) as are necessary for the proper pursuit of the objects;
  - g. power to do all such other lawful things as are considered necessary for the achievement of the objects.

### E. Membership

- 1. Membership of the Association shall be open to all those interested in furthering the objects. There shall be classes of membership as follows:
  - a. Personal Members
    - i. **Individual Membership** shall be available on payment of the appropriate fee.
    - ii. Honorary Membership may be granted by the Council to anyone who has given outstanding service to speleology; Honorary Membership shall confer all benefits of Individual Membership without payment of subscription and shall be conferred for life.
  - b. Corporate Members
    - i. Club Membership shall be available to all properly constituted clubs that are controlled by their members and which include some form of underground investigation as one of their objects.
    - ii. **Associate Membership** shall be available to groups or individuals that wish to support the Association.
- 2. The submission of a completed application form accompanied by the appropriate fee shall secure membership until the end of the calendar year.
- 3. The granting of membership shall not of itself be construed as signifying any approval or endorsement by the Association for any product or service provided by or otherwise associated with that member.
- 4. Every Personal Member and each Member Club shall have one vote at any General Meeting or in any ballot. The benefits of each class of membership shall be as determined by the Council from time to time and as notified to the membership.
- 5. Fees for each class of membership shall be as determined by the Council from time to time and notified to the membership.
- 6. On non-payment of the annual subscription, membership shall be deemed to have lapsed six months after the subscription became due. Membership may be restored at the discretion of the Council at any time provided that all outstanding arrears of subscription are paid.

# F. Members' Responsibilities

- 1. All members shall keep in mind the objects of the Association and assist towards their attainment. Their practical work shall be carried out in a responsible, scientific and careful manner.
- 2. The name and logo of the Association shall not, except by authority of the Council, be used in publications or advertising nor as a warrant for obtaining information or any other favours from non-members.
- 3. The Council may for any good reason by a two-thirds majority vote of those present and voting terminate the membership of any individual or organisation.
  - a. The member or organisation will then have all membership rights suspended for a period of 28 days during which time an appeal may be lodged to the BCRA President against the decision. Failing to lodge such an appeal, within the requisite time period, the member or organisation will cease to be considered a member.
  - b. Within 28 days of receiving notice of such termination and a subsequent appeal, the decision shall be reconsidered by the President and at least two other BCRA members nominated by the President. If the majority of the three individuals consider that the expulsion is warranted then the member shall be offered the opportunity to resign before the expulsion is made.

# **G. Honorary Officers and the Council**

- 1. The Honorary Officers of the Association shall be the Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer.
- 2. The Council shall have the authority to appoint a President of the Association to serve for a period of three years. A retiring or past president shall be eligible for re-appointment.
- 3. The Council shall consist of: the President, the Honorary Officers, seven representatives of the Personal Members and any members co-opted in accordance with sub-clause G.8 of this Constitution. Every member of the Council must be a Personal Member of the Association.
- 4. All members of the Council other than the President shall be elected for a one-year term. The election shall take place between October and December and they shall take office from the 1st January following their election.
- 5. Nominations for all positions on the Council other than President shall be proposed and seconded by voting members (as defined in sub-clause E.4 of this Constitution). Nominations shall be made in writing to the Hon. Secretary to reach him not later than the previous 30th September to be valid for office in the following calendar year. All such nominations shall be signed by the proposer and seconder and be accompanied by the nominee's signed consent.
- 6. All members of the Council shall be eligible for re-election. Nominations for members of Council seeking re-election shall neither be proposed nor seconded by existing members of Council.
- 7. In the event of there being a contest for the election of any members of the Council the election shall be determined by a ballot held in accordance with clauses R and S of this Constitution.
- 8. The Council may in addition appoint not more than three co-opted members who shall have the right to vote at meetings subsequent to their appointment, but not before.
- 9. The Council shall have the power to fill any vacancies occurring on the Council during the year; such appointees shall become full members of the Council at the meeting subsequent to their appointment, but not before.
- 10. Nobody shall be appointed as a member of the Council who is aged under 18 or who would be disqualified under the provisions of clause H of this Constitution.

# **H. Termination of Council Membership**

- 1. A member of the Council shall cease to hold office if he or she:
  - a. is disqualified from acting as a member of the Council by virtue of section 72 of the Charities Act 1993 (or any statutory re-enactment or modification of that provision);
  - b. becomes incapable by reason of mental disorder, illness or injury of managing and administering his or her own affairs;
  - c. is disqualified by reason of clause I of this Constitution;
  - d. is absent without cause considered adequate by the Council from at least two consecutive meetings and the Council resolve by a two thirds majority of Council members present and voting that the position be vacated. The member shall be offered the opportunity to resign before the position is vacated.
  - e. is the subject of a successful motion of no confidence that achieves a two thirds majority of Council members present and voting. The member shall be offered the opportunity to resign before the position is vacated.

# I. Personal Interests of Council Members

1. No member of the Council shall have or acquire any interest in property belonging to the Association (otherwise than as a trustee for the Association) or be interested (otherwise than as a member of the Council) in any contract entered into by the Council

# J. Meetings and Proceedings of the Council

- 1. The Council shall hold at least three ordinary meetings each year. Meetings of the Council may be called at any time by the Chairman or by any four members of the Council upon not less than 15 days' notice being given to the other members of the Council of the matters to be discussed.
- 2. The Chairman shall take the chair at meetings of the Council. If the Chairman is absent from the meeting, the members of the Council present shall choose one of their number to be chairman of the meeting before any other business is transacted.
- 3. There shall be a quorum when at least six members of the Council are present at the meeting.
- 4. Every matter, unless expressly instructed elsewhere in this Constitution, shall be determined by a simple majority of votes of the members of the Council present and voting on the question but in the case of equality of votes the chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.
- 5. Provided that a quorum is present the proceedings of the Council shall not be invalidated by any vacancy among their number or by any failure to appoint or any defect in the appointment or qualification of a member.
- 6. The Council shall keep minutes, in books kept for the purpose or as electronic records properly protected, with at least one printed and signed copy, of the proceedings at meetings of the Council and any sub-committee.
- 7. The Council may from time to time make and alter rules for the conduct of their business, the summoning and conduct of their meetings and the custody of documents. No rule may be made which is inconsistent with this Constitution.
- 8. The Council may appoint one or more sub-committees for the purpose of making any inquiry or supervising or performing any function or duty which in the opinion of the Council would be more conveniently undertaken or carried out by a sub-committee; provided that all acts and proceedings of any such sub-committee shall be fully and promptly reported to all members of the Council.
- 9. Council meetings may take place via an on-line medium provided that Council has previously made a decision to do so in accordance with clause J.4 and that proper written minutes are taken.

# K. Receipts and Expenditure

- 1. The funds of the Association, including all donations, subscriptions and bequests, shall be paid into one or more accounts operated by the Council in the name of the Association at such banks or building societies as the Council shall from time to time decide. All cheques drawn on any Association account shall be signed by at least two authorised persons, at least one of whom shall be a member of the Council. A specific account may be exempted from the requirements of the second part of this clause only by a resolution of Council.
- 2. The funds belonging to the Association shall be applied only in furthering the objects.

# L. Property and Trustees

- 1. The Council shall cause the title to:
  - a. all land held by or in trust for the Association; and
  - b. all investments held by or on behalf of the Association;

to be vested in not less than three individuals appointed by them as honorary Holding Trustees. Such trustees may be removed by the Council at its pleasure and shall act only in accordance with the lawful directions of the Council. Provided they act in accordance with the lawful directions of the Council, the Holding Trustees shall not be liable for the acts and defaults of its members.

#### M. Accounts

- 1. The Council shall comply with their obligations under the Charities Act 1993 (or any statutory re-enactment or modification of that Act) in particular with regard to:
  - a. the keeping of accounting records for the Association;
  - b. the preparation of annual statements of account for the Association;
  - c. the auditing or independent examination of the statements of account of the Association; and
  - d. the transmission of the statements of account of the Association to the Charity Commissioners.
- 2. The financial year of the Association shall end on 31st December.

# N. Annual Report and Return

1. The Council shall comply with their obligations under the Charities Act 1993 (or any statutory re-enactment or modification of that Act) with regard to the preparation of both an annual report and an annual return and their transmission to the Charity Commissioners.

# O. Annual General Meeting

- 1. There shall be an annual general meeting of the Association.
- 2. Every annual general meeting shall be called by the Council.
- 3. The Council shall present to each annual general meeting the report and accounts of the Association for the preceding financial year.

# P. Special General Meetings

- 1. A special general meeting may be called at any time by a quorum of members of the Council, or twenty voting members of the Association, sending a written request to the Secretary stating the business to be considered.
- 2. The Secretary shall call such a meeting to be held within 90 days of receipt of that request.

# Q. Procedure at General Meetings

- 1. The Secretary shall give all members of the Association at least 21 days' notice of each general meeting; such notice shall specify the agenda for the meeting. Any motion for consideration at a general meeting shall be notified in writing to the Secretary and be signed by the proposer and seconder to reach the Secretary not less than 28 days prior to the general meeting at which it will be considered. The agenda for the meeting shall include the full wording of all motions for consideration at the meeting.
- 2. All members of the Association shall be entitled to attend a general meeting but the voting rights of members shall be as defined in clause E of this Constitution.
- 3. The Secretary or other person specially appointed by the Council shall keep a full record of proceedings at every general meeting of the Association.
- 4. There shall be a quorum when at least twenty voting members of the Association are present at any general meeting.
- 5. The Chairman shall take the chair of any general meeting. If the Chairman is absent from the meeting, then those present and having voting rights shall choose one of their number to be chairman of the meeting before any other business is transacted.
- 6. Every matter, unless expressly instructed elsewhere in this Constitution, shall be determined by a simple majority of votes of those present and voting on the question but in the case of an equality of votes the chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.
- 7. The business of any general meeting shall be in accordance with the circulated agenda, as interpreted by the chairman of the meeting.
- 8. General meetings may take place via an on-line medium

# R. Procedure for Ballots

- 1. A ballot shall be organised by the officers of the Association on any legal motion if they are required to do so by this Constitution or by resolution of a general meeting or by a meeting of the Council. Unless specified in this constitution, the type of ballot (postal or on-line) shall be decided by the officers of the Association.
- 2. The officers of the Association shall ensure that notification for every ballot shall be issued to all voting members to arrive at least 21 days prior to the closing date.
- 3. Members shall return postal ballot papers to the appointed person duly stamped. Votes shall be opened and counted only in the presence of three scrutineers appointed by the Council.
- 4. Members shall be notified by email of any on-line ballot. Voting in an on-line ballot shall be via a web page. Prior to any on-line ballot, Council shall establish a means of secure voting with vote counting to be overseen by two suitably IT-qualified scrutineers appointed by the Council.

#### S. Notices and Ballot Forms

- 1. Any notice or ballot form required to be served on any member of the Association shall be in writing or by email and shall be served by the Secretary or the Council on any member personally or by sending it through the post in a prepaid letter addressed to such member at their last known address or by sending it by email to the last recorded address of the member, and any notice so sent shall be deemed to have been received within seven days of sending.
- 2. In any ballot Council may, if it has reasonable grounds for believing that a vote has been cast fraudulently, reject that vote.
- 3. It is the member's responsibility to ensure that their recorded email and postal addresses are correct. The Association shall take no responsibility if communication with a member fails to arrive or if a member's response fails to arrive with the Association

#### T. The Constitution

- 1. The Constitution may only be altered subject to the provisions of this sub-clause:
  - a. Any proposal to amend the Constitution shall be notified in writing to the Secretary and be signed by the proposer and seconder to reach the Secretary not less than 56 days prior to the general meeting at which it will be considered. The notice of that meeting shall include notice of the proposal, setting out the terms of the alteration proposed.
  - b. A resolution to amend the Constitution shall be passed by not less than two-thirds of the members present and voting at a general meeting.
  - c. No amendment may be made to clause A, clause C, clause I, clause U or this clause without the prior consent in writing of the Charity Commissioners.
  - d. No amendment may be made which would have the effect of making the Association cease to be a charity at law.
- 2. The Council shall promptly send to the Charity Commissioners a copy of any amendment made under this clause.
- 3. The Council shall have full powers to deal with any matter that might arise and is not provided for in this Constitution.

#### **U.** Dissolution

- 1. If the Council decides that it is necessary or advisable to dissolve the Association it shall call a special general meeting of the Association. If a proposal for dissolution is confirmed by a simple majority of those present and voting, or if the meeting is inquorate, then the proposal shall be put to all voting members of the Association by a **postal** ballot held in accordance with clauses R and S of this Constitution.
- 2. If the **postal** ballot approves the proposal by at least a three-quarters majority of those voting the Council shall have the power to realise the assets held by or on behalf of the Association. Any assets remaining after the satisfaction of any proper debts and liabilities shall be handed to an organisation with similar interests or in default of this to the National Trust or similar national organisation. A copy of the statement of accounts for the final accounting period of the Association shall be sent to the Charity Commissioners.

#### Notes on this clause

- **Postal ballots:** At the 2020 AGM the motion to amend the constitution included the deletion of the word "postal" as it appears in Clause U (and shown in bold above). However, this change cannot be implemented without the express permission of the Charity Commissioners, as stated in clause T.1.c., who will be consulted.
- **Comment on the word "similar":** We are asked from time to time to clarify what is meant by a "similar" organisation. The salient point is that the assets of a charity can only be disposed of to another charity but, as this is a matter of English Law, it does not need to be stated in our constitution.

# **Previous Versions**

- Change to 2008 Constitution, presented to 2020 AGM
- Constitution, last modified 27 September 2008
- Changes introduced at AGM on 27 September 2008
- 1999 Constitution, for amendment at 2002 AGM

### **Document Notes**

- i. A motion to change the constitution was presented to our <u>2020 AGM</u> and was agreed by the meeting. This revised edition of the constitution was presented to BCRA Council at Meeting 184 on 27 January 2021.
- ii. This HTML document is the master copy of BCRA's constitution. It is intended to be displayed in a web browser.
- iii. A PDF version of this document has been created by printing the web page to PDF. A link to the generated file is at the top of this document
- iv. To generate a fresh PDF, click the *Print View* button above and then 'print' the page to PDF (provided you have a PDF driver on your computer, of course). You may wish to select *minimum margins* and *scale 75%* in your printer driver. Other methods of exporting this document *should not be used* as the document may rely on embedded and external style sheets; on client-side embedded or external scripting and on server-side scripting.
- v. The source files for this web page are stored on computers belonging to BCRA staff and are backed-up regularly (it is supposed). Additionally, a PDF copy of this constitution has been filed with BCRA's minutes for meeting 184. Public archiving services also have access to this page see for example <a href="The Wayback Machine">The Wayback Machine</a>.
- vi. In order to maintain the server-side scripting and links to external files, only the server file *itself* (accessible via FTP) should be edited rather than the output that you are viewing in your web browser.
- vii. This file was last edited on **30 July 2021** to correct a mistake in clause J2, where the final part of the clause had been omitted.